PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is the direct appeal of two convictions of first-degree murder and two death sentences, as well as related convictions and sentences. The Record on Appeal consists of thirty (30) volumes: volumes one (1) through twenty-one (21) contain the record, and volumes twenty-two (22) through thirty (30) contain the transcript. References to the record shall be made as "V#R#" and references to the transcript shall be made as "V#T#".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State indicted Donaldson on July 28, 1994, for conduct alleged to have occurred July 9-10, 1994, in Okaloosa County. Count I charged premeditated/felony murder of Donnta Lamar Head. Count II charged premeditated/felony murder of Lawanda Latisha Campbell. Count III charged armed kidnapping of Donnta Lamar Head. Count IV charged armed kidnapping of Lawanda Latisha Campbell. Count V charged aggravated child abuse of Donnta Lamar Head, 15. Count VI charged aggravated child abuse of Lawanda

Latisha Campbell, 14.¹ V1R14-18.

A jury trial began April 8, 1996, before the Hon. G. Robert Barron, First Judicial Circuit Court. V22T22. On April 13, the jury found Donaldson guilty as charged, V13R2528-33, V27T1194-98, and the court adjudicated him, V30T1651-52. The penalty phase began April 25, V28T1203, and concluded April 26 when the jury voted 8-4 for death as to Head and 9-3 for death as to Campbell. V14R2679, V30T1724. A sentencing hearing before the judge took place on May 22, 1996. V15R2949-V16R3003.

The judge imposed sentence May 28, sentencing Donaldson to death on Counts I and II; life on Counts III and IV; and thirty (30) years' imprisonment on Counts V and VI. V16R3004-19. The court entered written reasons, V14R2750-58, V14R2789-97,² and a written judgment and sentence, V14R2725-49, V14R2765-88. Donaldson timely filed a notice of appeal. V14R2798. The court then twice amended its written judgment and sentence, first on June 26, 1996, nunc pro tunc May 28, 1996, V15R2815-36, and again on July 16, 1996, nunc pro tunc May 28, 1996, V15R2837-61, but no substantive change is apparent.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case involves the gunshot murder of two young criminals committed by triggerman Joseph Sykosky, who was tried separately and sentenced to life imprisonment. In this case, the State

¹ Campbell actually was 13 years old at the time of her death. V25T713.

² A copy of the sentencing order is appended to this brief as A1-9.

accused Donaldson of being a small time street-level drug dealer who ordered Sykosky to kill the victims because they tried to rob Donaldson and posed a threat to him and his business. The major players were Donaldson, Joseph Sykosky, Ruben Cisneros, Joseph Wengert, and William Purcell Straham.³ Wengert described himself as a prep cook and dishwasher at a restaurant, and as Donaldson's bodyguard and driver. Donaldson and Cisneros were engaged in the crack cocaine business. Straham was Donaldson's friend and occasionally drove him around. V24T434, V24T436, V24T448, V24T566-67, V26T827-29, V26T847-50. Sykosky was a frequent crack user who bought drugs from Donaldson. V24T443-44, V24T588-90, V24T496, V25T613, V26T853.

Uncontested evidence established that all five were present in Donaldson's house at 29A Cape Drive in Fort Walton Beach on the night of Saturday, July 9, 1994, when Sykosky murdered the two victims with multiple gunshots. The primary issues contested were whether, and to what extent, Donaldson participated, and whether the punishment is lawful and appropriate in light of the lesser punishment meted out to the other participants. Of these five, only Wengert and Straham testified in this trial. Wengert was charged with two counts of murder, V24T495, but on November 3, 1994, he cut a deal for a probation sentence in exchange for pleading no contest to two counts of accessory after the fact, third-degree felonies, conditioned on his providing truthful

³ Various witnesses use nicknames to refer to these individuals throughout the trial. Donaldson was often referred to as "C[ash]-Money," Sykosky as "Joe," Cisneros as "Little Man," Wengert as "Joey," and Straham as "Purc."

testimony against Donaldson, after which he would be sentenced with a possible withheld adjudication. V24T430, V24T517-20, V24T599-V25T603, V25T621-23, St. Ex. 13. He was released on a recognizance bond, V24T522, and has been on community control since then. While on community control he allegedly committed grand theft, but he got that charge reduced as well. V24T430-31, V24T522-23, V24T594-95, V25T603-05, V25T626-30. Straham was not charged despite some evidence of his participation.

A. Guilt Phase

The State's theory was that a series of events, in which Donaldson had been the intended victim of attempted robberies, assaults, and burglaries, precipitated the fatal episode. One incident occurred at the Marina Bay Motel three or four days before the murders. V24T442, V27T1026. Donaldson, Wengert, and Cisneros were in the hotel where they had adjoining rooms, one for conducting crack cocaine business and another for "females." V24T438. Through a peephole, Wengert spied two females approach the door while signaling to two black males down the hall. V24T439. The would-be intruders went there to rob Donaldson and everyone else present. V24T1026. The would-be robbers included the two victims in this case, Lawanda Latisha Campbell and Donnta Head; State witness Wendy Kane; and some others. V24T439, V27T1026. They were armed. Kane said the plan was for Campbell and Kane to get the door opened so the others could burst in with guns, but they failed, and the would-be robbers fled. V24T440, V27T1028. The robbery victims called security. V24T588.

Other such home invasions took place against Donaldson's

Cape Drive home, which was occupied by Donaldson; Sheila Youngblood, his girlfriend whom he later married; their daughter; Sheila's other daughter; Wengert; Cisneros; and Melissa J. Wood, who was Sheila's girlfriend and a distant relative of Donaldson. V24T435-36, V25T778-80. On one occasion, some unknown assailant cut the phone line and broke in through the back door, stealing some items. V24T440-41, V25T786. On another occasion, the phone line was cut while the home was occupied, and somebody tried to get in. V24T441-42, V25T785-86.

On Saturday, July 9, 1994, Wengert, Cisneros, Straham, and Donaldson were home drinking liquor, occasionally leaving to buy more liquor and make sales. Everybody was drinking that afternoon and night. Wengert began drinking around 10 a.m. He drank about three 40-ounce Schlitz malt liquors that evening, probably the equivalent of at least ten normal cans of beer, in that malt liquor is stronger than beer. Straham started drinking at 10 a.m. with a quart of beer, and the whole group began drinking heavily when they got back from the mall at 4:30-5 p.m. That's when he began drinking gin, consuming between twelve glasses and a whole quart of gin, and he got pretty drunk. V24T443-44, V24T460-61, V24T558, V24T588-91, V25T614-15, V26T853-56, V26T941, V26T945-50, V26T957, V26T962-63, V26T971.

Sometime that evening, while sitting in his living room drinking, Donaldson phoned Campbell at the home of "Crazy Mike," about four miles away. Campbell was there with Donnta Head, Wendy Kane, Andrew Bernard Knox, and others. V25T796-99. Wengert said he was with Donaldson and overheard Donaldson's side

of the conversation. V24T444-45. Straham did not even remember this phone call taking place. V26T957.

Wengert said Donaldson had been sleeping with Lawanda Campbell. V24T436. Wengert claimed Donaldson said something about her being pregnant by him, that it was not Donaldson's, and "then he told her to go stand out in front of her daddy's house and that he would be by to shoot her." V24T445.

At "Crazy Mike's" fifteen minutes later, Knox and Kane went to the store. When they returned, Head and Campbell were standing on the corner. Head and Campbell said they were going for a walk, heading in the direction of Donaldson's house. V26T800-02. That was the last Knox saw of them. V26T803.

Meanwhile, about 15-30 minutes after the phone conversation with Campbell, Donaldson had a phone conversation with Campbell's father, Tommy Gainer, who lived nearby. Wengert and Straham overheard Donaldson's portion of the conversation. Donaldson and Gainer appeared to be arguing. V24T445-47, V26T854-58. "I guess her dad had some type problem with him," Wengert testified, "and he made the remark to her dad by saying, 'If you want me' -- he said, 'I ain't going to run from you, you know where I'm at.'" V24T445-46. Wengert then got on the phone and argued with Gainer. Wengert said he was on the phone with Gainer for only couple of minutes; Straham said it lasted for 1-1½ hours. V24T555, V24T578, V26T858, V26T958. Gainer threatened Wengert. V24T558. Wengert said he didn't know what the problem was, and he offered to talk it over to settle it. Suddenly, the phone went dead. V24T446-47, V24T583, V26T858. Wengert thought the

line had been cut and somebody was about to try to break into the house again. V24T447. Just then, somebody came to the front door. Straham said he heard a knock on the front door, V26T858, but Wengert said the front door bell rang, V24T448.

Direct testimony about the murders came from Wengert and Straham, both of whom admitted they gave contradictory evidence.

1. Straham's stories

Before testifying, Straham had given many statements before this trial, and said he lied in prior sworn statements, V26T896-99, V26T914, V26T919, V26T923, V27T1013, claiming he was merely "bending it [the truth] a little bit," V26T940. The prosecutor acknowledged Straham had been exonerating Donaldson for 1½ years before this trial and just changed his story right before trial. V26T902-03. Straham planned to surprise everybody with a changed story when he came into the courtroom, V26T956, but before trial the prosecutor got Wengert and Straham together, V24T510-11, V24T595, V26T951-52, V26T955, V26T983-86, and then Straham changed his story, V26T956, V26T983-86, V26T998, telling prosecutors he would change his story if deposed again, V27T1021. Straham even gave different accounts about why he changed his story, saying he changed his testimony after prosecutors "scared" him, V26T925, and saying he changed his story another time because he was scared of dying, V26T900, V26T940.

He began by testifying that when the phone went dead, there was a knock at the door, and Donaldson said to go out the back door. Wengert and Donaldson went around the house from the carport side and came back with Head; Cisneros came from the

other side. V26T860-61, V26T928, V27T1006. Straham did not go outside, V26T929, and he could not see if anybody put a gun to Head outside, V27T1008, but nobody had any guns with them, V26T961. Head came in voluntarily, walking in front of the others. Nobody grabbed him and he was not being forced inside. V26T961-62, V27T1007. Donaldson told them to go into the house. V27T1008. They all went to the living room. V26T863. Donaldson told Wengert and Cisneros to go get Campbell, which they did. V26T864. Campbell and Head sat together in the double wicker chair in the living room. V26T866. Straham recognized Campbell from the motel where he had seen her visit Donaldson. V26T865.

Donaldson talked to them about the prior robberies and attempts on his life. V26T866-68, T26V921. Donaldson appeared to be in charge, V27T1016-20, but Wengert took it upon himself to question them for a half-hour, even telling them Donaldson "'ain't got nothing to do with this conversation. It's just you and me, boy.'" V26T968-69. The questioning was not angry; it was more like a party, calm. V26T964, V27T1010-12. Donaldson did not have a gun. V26T967. Straham said he was at the dining table just outside the living room, drinking and watching a video while the others were in the living room. V26T868-69, V27T1004.

Campbell went to the bathroom. When she came out, she sat at the table with Straham. V26T869-71. She asked what this was all about and was she going to die. He assured her "no," she was not going to die, and he further declined to tell her what this was all about. V26T871-72. Cisneros came in, kicked her, and beat her to the floor. V26T872. Straham said he pushed Cisneros

away from her. V27T1005. Donaldson said nobody should talk to Straham any more. V26T872. After Cisneros struck Campbell, Donaldson said "'don't give a fuck about that bitch.'" V26T873.

Wengert and Cisneros brought her back to the living room. V26T873. Head was given a beer. V27T1012. A pager went off, and even though Straham did not recall any phone calls, he said Donaldson told him and Cisneros to pick up somebody from "the compound," a trailer park. V26T874-76, V26T972-74. They returned with Sykosky. V26T876-77. Straham and Cisneros never discussed anything with Sykosky about Head and Campbell on the way to the house, and Straham did not think there was any problem. He thought Sykosky came over to buy drugs, V27T1013, and Head and Campbell would leave while the rest went on partying, V26T974-77. Straham did not believe a murder was about to take place. V27T1010.

Straham went back to the dining table and got another drink, while Sykosky and Wengert went into the living room, which was separated from the dining area by a beaded curtain. V26T876-77. Straham still did not see Donaldson or anybody else with any guns. V26T978. Straham said on direct that Wengert went into the kitchen and turned up the stereo, which was already playing music. V26T878-79. He later changed his story, saying Wengert went in to turn the stereo on. V26T936. Wengert made only one trip to the stereo. V26T936.

Donaldson gave no instructions to Sykosky, and neither Donaldson nor anybody else ordered Sykosky to kill. V26T979. Neither Head nor Campbell were begging not to be killed.

V26T979. Straham heard five shots, but he believed they came from the music, not gunfire in the house, and he did not know anybody was being killed. V26T880, V26T936-39, V26T979.

Donaldson stood there with his mouth wide open, stunned or shocked. V26T936-37, V26T880, V26T980, V26T999-1000, V27T1022-23. Donaldson and Cisneros ran toward the kitchen. Wengert turned down the radio, and somebody told Straham to move.

Donaldson told them to move the bodies. Wengert and Cisneros carried one, Donaldson and Sykosky the other. Straham stayed in the kitchen. V26T880, V26T936-39, V26T1000-V27T1002. They had been in the living room about 1½ hours. V27T1003.

Sykosky began to clean up the blood. Straham said he did not do any cleanup and never touched the bodies. V26T882-82. Straham first saw the murder weapon, a 9-mm handgun, in Sykosky's possession when Sykosky picked it up from the table after the bodies were carried out. V26T883-84, V27T1008-09. He never saw a gun in Donaldson's possession throughout the entire episode. V26T942-43, V27T1009. He also did not see Wengert or Cisneros with a gun in their hands during the episode. V27T1009.

Cisneros and Wengert left with the bodies, returning about a half-hour later and looking pretty scared. V26T884. Straham stayed with Sykosky. He was scared and afraid to leave because Sykosky had the gun and he feared Sykosky would kill him. Donaldson and Straham then took Sykosky home. V26T885-86.

During the investigation, Straham told officials he did not even see Wengert or Donaldson that weekend, but later he told them he witnessed the killings. V26T899, V26T927, V27T1013-14.

He admitted having lied, having told different stories about Donaldson's involvement. V26T914-20. He told investigators Donaldson did not go outside to bring Head and Campbell into the house, but testified differently at trial, saying the earlier story was a lie. V26T915-18, V26T930. He said he lied when he told investigators Donaldson did not participate in questioning Head and Campbell. V26T919, V26T932-35. He said he did not tell officers that he had gone with Cisneros to pick up Sykosky. V26T976. He said he lied when he told officers the only time he saw a gun was when Sykosky went out the door. V26T929. He said he lied when he told investigators he had remained in the kitchen. V26T930. He said he lied when he told officials he left after the shootings. V26T938-40. He said he lied when he told officers one person went out to see who had knocked on the door. V26T930-31. He characterized Wengert as his closest friend, "like a brother to me," V26T846, but admitted he lied time and again to blame Wengert and to make him the fall guy as the one who ran the show, V26T934-35, V26T940-41, V26T970.

Straham also acknowledged that his memory of events that night might have been affected by the fact that he was drinking heavily that night and got pretty drunk. V26T958, V26T972.

2. Wengert's stories

Before he testified, Wengert had talked to officers and prosecutors at least ten to twelve times, V23T396, V24T402-03, V24T496-505, V24T557, admitting that he came up with new facts each time he was questioned, V24T564. They even got Wengert and Straham together to discuss the case before trial. V24T510-11,

V24T595. He admitted lying before he made his plea deal, but claimed he told the truth afterward. V24T597.

He said when the front doorbell rang after the phone went dead, he jumped up and looked outside, seeing Campbell and Head. Wengert, Cisneros, Straham, and Donaldson grabbed guns and ran through the back door and around the house, Straham and Donaldson from the left, Cisneros and Wengert from the right. Cisneros put a gun to Head, took him inside, and seated him in two-seat wicker chair in the living room. Campbell ran down to the corner. Donaldson told Cisneros and Wengert to get her, which they did. Cisneros grabbed Campbell from behind a car where she was hiding, put a gun to her head, and walked her back to the house. She sat in the wicker chair next to Head. V24T448-51. Wengert did not see Head and Campbell carrying weapons. V24T514. He said they were being held against their will, and he doubted they could have gotten up and left if they wanted to. V24T514-15.

Wengert, Donaldson, and Cisneros were in the living room, while Straham sat at the dining room table by the beaded doorway adjacent to the living room. Donaldson, Cisneros, and Wengert questioned Campbell about why her daddy was trying to rob them. She did not answer, but she admitted she tried to rob Donaldson at the Marina Bay Motel. She looked scared, like she was going to cry, and asked if she was going to die. V24T451-53. Head said he came to the house that night to buy some crack so he could sell it for profit. V24T453-54. Wengert said Donaldson and Cisneros did most of the questioning, while Wengert admitted to very little: "I had asked a question." V24T575.

Wengert said Donaldson had on his lap a 9-mm handgun with a brown, starred handle and a long-nosed barrel. Cisneros had a .22-caliber and a .25-caliber automatic. Wengert had .22-caliber and .25-caliber automatics. V24T455-56, V24T508-09.

Campbell went to the bathroom. When she came out, she went first to Wengert, then to Straham in the kitchen, and asked if she was going to die. They both assured her no. V24T456-57. Donaldson purportedly said, "'I don't care about that bitch,'" and Cisneros said, "'Well, seeing that you don't care about that bitch, that means that you don't care what I do.'" V24T458. Cisneros jumped up, ran in the kitchen, and slapped or punched Campbell once or twice and kicked her a few times when she fell from the chair. V24T458, V24T592. At the time, Wengert was seated in a beanbag chair in the living room near the beaded curtain separating that room from the dining room; Straham was at the dining room table; Donaldson was on the couch in the living room; and Head was in the wicker chair in the living room. V24T457-60, V24T593.

Head at first denied having been one of the Marina Bay Motel robbers, but he later admitted it after Campbell insisted that Head had been one of the robbers, V24T453-55, and after Cisneros attacked Campbell, V42T461. Head asked for a drink. Donaldson had Wengert get Head a 40-ounce beer.

Both Head and Campbell asked "'Are we going to die,'" and everybody assured them they would not, including Donaldson, who said "'You're not.'" V24T461-62, V24T536.

Donaldson's pager went off. He checked the number and put

the pager down, but when the pager went off again, Donaldson returned the call, telling the person to sit tight, that Donaldson might need him for a favor. A little while later, Donaldson called back and told the person he was sending Cisneros and Straham over to pick him up. V24T462-64, V24T575-76. Cisneros and Straham returned about a half-hour later with Sykosky, whom Wengert had seen buying cocaine from Donaldson. V24T464-66. Donaldson and Cisneros told Wengert that Sykosky owed Donaldson quite a bit of money for drugs, and "[i]t was brought up that if he did the job and done it right, that his debt would be clean." V24T496, V24T501-02.

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