# FILED

SID J. WHITE

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUL 14 1997

CLENK, SUPREME COURT

CHARLES D. DONALDSON,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 88,205

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA J. YATES ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 293237

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Cisneros' deposition is included in the record at XII 2254-2340.

is no merit to this claim. Even if error occurred, however, it was harmless.

Prior to the defense resting in the penalty phase on April 26, 1996, the trial court excused the jury so that Donaldson could return to the defense table. (XXX 1634). While the jury was still out of the courtroom, the defense introduced several exhibits, including a copy of Cisneros' written plea agreement, and the court admitted those exhibits into evidence. (XXX 1634-35). The state then sought to introduce its motion asking the court to withdraw Cisneros' plea agreement. (XXX 1635). When the court inquired as to the relevance of that document, the prosecutor responded that, after entering the plea, Cisneros lied in his deposition taken by defense counsel. (XXX 1635-36). The prosecutor stated that he wanted the jury to know that Cisneros had violated the plea agreement and that the state wanted to withdraw it. (XXX 1636). Donaldson had no objection to the state's exhibit, and the court admitted it into evidence. (XXX 1637). After the jury returned to the courtroom the defense rested. (XXX 1662).

The parties reconvened the sentencing hearing on May 22, 1996. (XV 2949). The prosecutor sought to introduce all of Cisneros' statements including one taken by the prosecutor on January 17, 1996 (XV 2984) and the deposition taken by the defense the following month. Donaldson objected, and, when the judge established that defense counsel had not been present for the

statement taken by the state attorney, he refused to admit the January statement. (XV 2988).

The prosecutor then stated that he wanted to present Cisneros' statements to rebut the mitigating argument that who did what during the murder was unclear because Cisneros' statement was consistent with all the other witnesses' testimony. (XV 2988). The prosecutor withdrew the January statement, and the court admitted the deposition because "both [defense] counsel were present, in fact, not only these counsel but Mr. Cisneros' counsel also. That evidence is clear upon reading the deposition, and in that counsel had an opportunity at that time to examine and crossexamine Mr. Cisneros, the court will overrule the objection, and I will admit the deposition." (XV 2990).

As stated in subsection 921.141(1), Florida Statutes (1995): "Any such evidence which the court deems to have probative value may be received, regardless of its admissibility under the exclusionary rules of evidence, provided the defendant is accorded a fair opportunity to rebut any hearsay statements." As Donaldson acknowledges, the rules of evidence thus are relaxed in the penalty phase of a capital case, and evidence that might not be admissible during the guilt phase may be admissible during the penalty phase if the defendant has an opportunity to rebut that evidence. Lawrence v. State, 691 So.2d 1086 (Fla. 1997); Spencer v. State, 645 So.2d 377 (Fla. 1994); Wuornos v. State, 644 So.2d 1012 (Fla.

1994), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 115 S.Ct. 1708 (1995); <u>Clark v. State</u>, 613 So.2d 412 (Fla. 1992), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 114 S.Ct. 114 (1993). As the trial court correctly held, Donaldson's counsel had the opportunity to rebut Cisneros' deposition testimony at the deposition.

Thus, it is apparent that the trial court did not err in admitting the deposition into evidence. Donaldson's reliance on State v. Green, 667 So.2d 756 (Fla. 1995), is misplaced because that case is factually distinguishable. In <u>Green</u> this Court held that discovery depositions cannot be used as substantive evidence of a defendant's guilt. In this case, however, Donaldson's guilt had already been established. The deposition was used only to rebut Donaldson's arguments as to penalty. <u>Green</u> should not be extended to preclude the introduction of relevant evidence, provided for in subsection 921.141(1), at the penalty phase of a capital proceeding. Donaldson's characterization of <u>Old Chief v.</u> <u>United States</u>, 117 S.Ct. 644 (1997), stretches that case far beyond its holding construing 18 U.S.C. \$922(g)(1). It also ignores <u>Old</u> <u>Chief</u>'s recognition that the state need not accept a stipulation in most cases because

> the prosecution may fairly seek to place its evidence before the jurors, as much to tell a story of guiltiness as to support an inference of guilt, to convince the jurors that a guilty verdict would be morally reasonable as much to as to point to the discrete elements of a defendant's legal fault.

Id. at 654. Therefore, this claim should be denied.

If this Court decides that the deposition should not have been admitted, however, it should find any error harmless. The jury never knew that the deposition existed, and there is no indication that the trial court relied on the deposition in sentencing Donaldson to death. If admitting the deposition constituted error, it was harmless beyond any reasonable doubt.

### <u>Issue V</u>

### WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THESE MURDERS TO HAVE BEEN COMMITTED IN A HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS, OR CRUEL MANNER.

Donaldson argues that both the HAC aggravator and the instruction given to his jury are unconstitutionally vague and overbroad and that the facts do not support finding this aggravator. There is no merit to these arguments.

This Court has repeatedly upheld the constitutionality of the HAC aggravator. Lott v. State, 22 Fla.L.Weekly S289 (Fla. May 22, 1997); <u>Washington v. State</u>, 653 So.2d 362 (Fla. 1995); <u>Lucas v.</u> <u>State</u>, 613 So.2d 408 (Fla. 1992), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 114 S.Ct. 136 (1993). The trial court gave the HAC instruction approved in <u>Hall</u> <u>v. State</u>, 614 So.2d 473 (Fla.), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 510 U.S. 834 (1993). (XXX 1716). This Court has consistently held that instruction to be proper. <u>Geralds v. State</u>, 674 So.2d 96 (Fla. 1996), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 117 S.Ct. 230 (1997); <u>Finney v. State</u>, 660 So.2d 674 (Fla.), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 116 S.Ct. 823 (1995); <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 660 So.2d 637 (Fla. 1995), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 116 S.Ct. 1550 (1996); <u>Fennie</u>

v. State, 648 So.2d 95 (Fla. 1994), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 115 S.Ct. 1120 (1995); <u>Walls v. State</u>, 641 So.2d 381 (Fla. 1994), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 115 S.Ct. 943 (1995). Donaldson has shown no good reason why this Court should overturn the holdings of these cases.

The trial court made the following findings as to the HAC aggravator:

5. The murders were committed in an especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel manner. These two teen-agers were kidnapped at gunpoint and held for several hours and interrogated extensively by the Defendant and his cohorts as both Lawanda Latisha Campbell and Donnta Lamar Head asked on more than one occasion if they were "going to die." The testimony indicates without guestion that both victims were obviously in fear of dying at the hands of the Defendant for several hours before the arrival of the triggerman, Joseph We will never know the amount of Sykosky. fear and anxiety suffered by these two children when they witnessed the arrival of Joseph Sykosky, the Defendant handing him the gun, and the Defendant directing George Wengert to go turn on the stereo and then to turn it up louder. If the victims had suspicions earlier that they might die, as evidenced by this question, "Are we going to die", certainly they knew from the time of Mr. Sykosky's arrival that he was there for the purpose of murdering them. While the evidence is not clear which child watched as their friend was executed with full knowledge and understanding that they would be next. Even though the deaths of these victims may have been quick rather than lingering, they were subjected to hours of terror and at least minutes of excruciating and heightened anguish and fear before their death. This aggravating proved circumstance has been beyond а reasonable doubt as to each count.



(XIV 2753). Donaldson argues that the trial court erred in finding this aggravator applicable to both murders because he did not intend "to inflict extraordinary pain, torture or severe mental anguish" (initial brief at 86), and because the court focused on the victims' being children. (Initial brief at 87-88). The facts of this case, however, support the trial court's findings.

The victims were brought into the house forcibly and at gunpoint. (XXIV 449). Once inside they were interrogated for hours. (XXIV 452). Although they were told they would not be killed (XXIV 456-57), the victims looked scared. (XXIV 453). They were being kept against their will and could not have left the house. (XXIV 514). Donaldson had previously had a relationship with Campbell (XXIV 443), but said he did not care what happened to her. (XXIV 458). On hearing that Cisneros beat and kicked Campbell. (XXIV 458; XXVI 872). In front of the victims Donaldson told Sykosky to kill them (XXIV 513), which Sykosky did with Donaldson's pistol. (XXIV 469).

The HAC aggravator applies to the nature of the killing and the surrounding circumstance. <u>Gorby v. State</u>, 630 So.2d 544 (Fla. 1993), <u>cert. denied</u>, 115 S.Ct. 99 (1994); <u>Stano v. State</u>, 460 So.2d 890 (Fla. 1984), <u>cert. denied</u>, 472 U.S. 1111 (1985); <u>Mason v.</u> <u>State</u>, 438 So.2d 374 (Fla. 1983), <u>cert. denied</u>, 465 U.S. 1051 (1984). Even that Donaldson "might not have meant the killing[s] to be unnecessarily torturous does not mean that [they were] not

unnecessarily torturous and, therefore, not heinous, atrocious, or cruel." <u>Hitchcock v. State</u>, 578 So.2d 685, 692 (Fla. 1990), <u>cert</u>. denied, 502 U.S. 912 (1991). This is so because "[i]n determining whether the circumstance of heinous, atrocious or cruel applies, the mind set or mental anguish of the victim is an important factor." <u>Harvey v. State</u>, 529 So.2d 1083, 1087 (Fla. 1988), <u>cert</u>. denied, 489 U.S. 1040 (1989); Wvatt v, State, 641 So.2d 1336 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 1983 (1995); Phillips v. State, 476 So.2d 194 (Fla. 1985). As this Court has held many times, fear and emotional strain preceding a victim's death contribute to the heinous nature of that death. Lott; Henvard v. State, 22 Fla.L.Weekly S14 (Fla. December 19, 1996); Thompson v. State, 648 So.2d 692 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 2283 (1995); Sochor v. State, 619 So.2d 285 (Fla.), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 1025 (1993); Preston v. State, 607 So.2d 404 (Fla. 1992), cert. denied, 113 S.Ct. 1619 (1993); Adams v. State, 412 So.2d 850 (Fla.), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 882 (1982). Furthermore, as this Court has recognized, the HAC aggravator can "be supported by evidence of actions of the offender preceding the actual killing." Swafford v. State, 533 So.2d 270, 277 (Fla. 1988); Lott; Henvard; Thompson.

The cases that Donaldson relies on are distinguishable and do not control the instant case. In those cases, listed in pages 83 through 86 of the initial brief, this Court decided that HAC was not supported by the facts of those cases. Each case is different,

however, and the facts of this case support the trial court's finding the HAC aggravator.

Even though these victims died quickly from the gunshot wounds, their being shot was only the culmination of the night's events. Hours before their deaths they were kidnapped at gunpoint, interrogated, and threatened. Campbell was beaten and kicked; Head knew this had been done to her. In front of the victims Donaldson gave Sykosky the gun and told him to kill them. The facts and circumstances surrounding these murders set them apart from the norm of capital felonies and show them to have been heinous, atrocious, or cruel.

Even if this Court decides that the trial court erred in finding this aggravator applicable to either or both, no relief is warranted. As stated by this Court previously: "If there is no likelihood of a different sentence, the trial court's reliance on an invalid aggravator must be deemed harmless." <u>Rogers v. State</u>, 511 So.2d 526, 535 (Fla. 1987), <u>cert. denied</u>, 484 U.S. 1020 (1988). Striking HAC would leave three aggravators (felony murder, prior conviction, and CCP) to be weighed against inconsequential nonstatutory mitigation. Given the presence of three strong aggravators and the lack of significant mitigators, there is no reasonable likelihood that Donaldson would have received a sentence of life imprisonment if the HAC aggravator had not been considered. <u>Cf. Ferrell v. State</u>, 686 So.2d 1324 (Fla. 1996) (striking HAC was

harmless); <u>Hartley v. State</u>, 686 So.2d 1316 (Fla. 1996) (same); Geralds v. State, 674 So.2d 96 (Fla.) (no reasonable likelihood of different sentence where striking an aggravator left two aggravators to be weighed against a statutory mitigator and three nonstatutory mitigators), cert. denied, 117 S.Ct. 230 (1996); Barwick v. State, 660 So.2d 685 (Fla. 1995) (no likelihood of different sentence when eliminating CCP left five aggravators to be weighed against minimal mitigating evidence"), cert. denied, 116 S.Ct. 823 (1996); Fennie, 648 So.2d at 99 (eliminating CCP would be harmless because "[t]he totality of the aggravating factors and the significant mitigating circumstances conclusively lack of demonstrate that death is the appropriate penalty in this case"); Pietri v. State, 644 So.2d 1347 (Fla. 1994) (striking CCP left three aggravators and, even if the trial court had found mitigators, there was no reasonable likelihood of a different sentence), cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 2588 (1995); Wyatt v. State, 641 So.2d 355, 360 (Fla. 1994) (striking two aggravators was harmless where the three remaining aggravators "far outweigh the minimal mitigating evidence"), cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 1372 (1995); Peterka v. State, 640 So.2d 59 (Fla. 1994) (striking two aggravators was harmless where three aggravators remained to be weighed against lack of a significant criminal history), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 115 S.Ct. 940 (1995); Stein v. State, 632 So.2d 1361 (Fla.) (harmless error where four aggravators remained to be weighed against statutory

mitigator), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 115 S.Ct. 111 (1994); <u>Watts v. State</u>, 593 So.2d 198 (Fla.) (eliminating HAC was harmless where three aggravators remained to be weighed against one statutory mitigator and one nonstatutory mitigator), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 505 U.S. 1210 (1992).

Because no reversible error has been demonstrate, Donaldson's death sentence should be affirmed.

#### <u>Issue VI</u>

### WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THESE MURDERS TO HAVE BEEN COMMITTED IN A COLD, CALCULATED, AND PREMEDITATED MANNER.

Donaldson claims that the CCP aggravator and the instruction on it given to his jury are unconstitutionally vague and overbroad and that the CCP aggravator should not have been found because he had a pretense of moral or legal justification for killing the victims. There is no merit to these claims.

This Court has upheld the constitutionality of the CCP aggravator numerous times. <u>Larzelere v. State</u>, 676 So.2d 394 (Fla. 1996); <u>Hunter v. State</u>, 660 So.2d 244 (Fla. 1995), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 116 S.Ct. 946 (1996); <u>Fotopoulous v. State</u>, 608 So.2d 784 (Fla. 1992), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 508 U.S. 924 (1993). Donaldson presents nothing to warrant overturning these decisions.

At the penalty-phase charge conference the judge denied the defense requested CCP instruction because it "contain[s] some language that is not at this time recommended by the Florida

Supreme Court in the standard instruction" and announced his intention to give the CCP instruction adopted by this Court in <u>Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases</u>, 665 So.2d 212, 213-214 (Fla. 1995). (XXX 1644). The prosecutor then asked if the defense conceded that the state's requested instruction was the CCP instruction approved by the Florida Supreme Court in 1995. (XXX 1644). The court, however, moved on to other instructions, but Donaldson did not object after the court stated that the 1995 instruction would be given.

As Donaldson points out, there is a minor difference between the instruction given and the standard. The last line of the given instruction reads "rebuts the otherwise cold and calculated nature of the murder" (XXX 1717), rather than "rebuts the otherwise cold, calculated or premeditated nature of the murder." <u>Id</u>. at 214. Because Donaldson did not object to the instruction as given by the trial court, the state does not concede that the complaint about the validity of the instruction has been preserved for appeal. If this Court decides otherwise, however, and also decides that the given instruction was error, any such error would be harmless because these murders were CCP under any instruction on that aggravator. <u>Cf</u>. <u>Larzelere</u> (giving improper CCP instruction was harmless error where facts established CCP); <u>Foster v. State</u>, 654 So.2d 112 (Fla.) (same), <u>cert. denied</u>, 116 S.Ct. 314 (1995); <u>Walls</u>

<u>v. State</u>, 641 So.2d 381 (Fla. 1994) (same), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 115 S.Ct. 943 (1995).

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